IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA DEPT. OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. SC00-105 (First DCA 96-2375)

S.A.P.,

Respondent.

Upon Petition for Review of a Question Certified to be of Great Public Importance by the District Court of Appeal, First District

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General

CHARLIE MCCOY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 333646

Office of The Attorney General The Capitol, Suite PL-01 Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

Counsel for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The essence of this lawsuit is dismissal, with prejudice, of S.A.P.'s second amended complaint against Petitioner, the Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services (HRS). The order of dismissal held the complaint was barred by the seven-year statute of repose in §95.051(1)(h), Florida Statutes (1995), and no recognized grounds for tolling were present. (R 179-82).¹ S.A.P. timely appealed.

The First DCA reversed in an opinion issued September 3, 1997. (Appendix A). HRS moved for rehearing, etc. on September 15. While that motion was pending, this Court issued its original opinion in <u>Fulton County Administrator v. Sullivan</u>, 22 Fla.L.Weekly S578 (Fla. Sept. 25, 1997). Without ruling on HRS' motion for rehearing, the First DCA ordered supplemental briefing and a second oral argument. In March 1998, it abated this case pending disposition of <u>Fulton County Administrator</u> on rehearing.

This Court ultimately withdrew its original opinion in <u>Fulton</u> <u>County Administrator</u>, and decided the case on markedly different grounds. See <u>Fulton County Administrator v. Sullivan</u>, 24 Fla.L.Weekly S557 (Fla. Nov. 24, 1999) (importing Georgia's statute of limitation for wrongful death actions, which allowed for tolling based on fraudulent concealment of identity).

¹Cites to the record are in the form (R {page no.]).

On December 15, 1999, the First DCA denied HRS' motion for rehearing, and adhered to its original opinion. That order also certified the following question to be of great public importance:

CAN THE DOCTRINE OF FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT APPLY TO TOLL THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IN A NEGLIGENCE ACTION?

(See Appendix B.). HRS filed its notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction on January 13, 2000.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Again, this case arises from dismissal of S.A.P.'s second amended complaint. Consequently, HRS' statement of the facts is taken from the second amended complaint. (R 163-76).

S.A.P. was born in August 1975; her younger sister (not a party to this action) was born a year later. (R 164, \P 4). Reportedly, S.A.P.'s natural father was sentenced to prison in 1977. Her natural mother was reported to law enforcement for child abuse in 1978. (R 167, \P 14).

In December 1978, HRS placed both girls in an emergency shelter. A month later, they were placed in foster care in Jacksonville, with a parent identified as "C.C." (R 164, $\P\P6-7$).

On October 20, 1979, Clay County Sheriff officers found the girls in Orange Park--not their proper foster home location. S.A.P. was bruised over her entire body, burned, beaten, etc.

Although 4 years old, she was emaciated and weighed 22 pounds.² (R 164, \P 8).

Based on these injuries, S.A.P. claimed HRS negligently failed to monitor her placement with "C.C." in 1979; negligently failed to reasonably supervise her caseworker (a "Ms. Dassie"); and negligently failed to remove her from the home of "C.C.," when HRS should have known the girls were being abused or neglected. S.A.P. also alleged the caseworker falsified records relating to her foster care placement in 1979 with "C.C.". (R 165-66, ¶10).

Notice of intent to sue was given in May 1993. (R 171-6). This suit was filed in January 1995, about 17 months after S.A.P. reached her majority.

The second amended complaint also included allegations which

²S.A.P. remained in foster care until December 1984, when she was placed in an adoptive setting by HRS. Apparently, she remained in that setting until May 1990, when she returned to HRS' custody. She was released from HRS' custody upon her 18th birthday (R 165, \P 9); that is, in August 1993.

S.A.P. relied upon to toll the statute of limitation:

The department, during the plaintiff's minority, actively concealed the facts concerning the negligence that is the basis of this complaint. Any records concerning the negligence complained of were, by Florida Statute and by the active efforts of the defendant, concealed from the public and those involved in the care of the plaintiff. The defendant department obstructed the law enforcement investigation of the abuse of the plaintiff and her sister in 1979. In the report of the internal investigation conducted by the defendant and released on December 21, 1992, it was first revealed that law enforcement officials alleged that employees of the defendant obstructed the criminal investigation of the 1979 abuse and neglect of the plaintiff. The department's own internal investigation, reported on December 21, 1992, also revealed for the first time that the case worker charged with the duty to supervise the placement of the plaintiff and her sister *falsified* records so that it appeared that the case worker had conducted monthly supervision visits with the plaintiff and her sister. The records reveal that the foster home was frequently visited and that S.A.P. and her sister were doing fine. Had any interested adult examined these records prior to December 21, 1992, they would have been misled into believing that the department had reasonably, appropriately, and lawfully discharged its supervision duties. The negligence of the department was concealed by these falsified records. [e.o.].

(R 166-67, ¶13).

S.A.P. alleged her natural parents could not file the lawsuit, as they did not have custody of her in 1979, and never regained custody or temporary care. She alleged some information was made available to a different foster parent in 1990, but such information contained the falsified records indicating S.A.P. had

been "properly supervised and visited" by HRS in 1979. Not until HRS' own, internal investigation in 1992 was it learned the records had been falsified.

S.A.P. further alleged her adoptive parents had no knowledge, and did not have access to records of the 1979 events. She also alleged her adoptive parents had a conflict of interest, arising from a report the adoptive father sexually abused her. Lastly, because she was 3 to 4 years old at the time, she claimed no actual memory, compounded by the effects of trauma during and after the 1979 events. (R 167-9, \P 14-17).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The question as certified does not reflect an essential fact of this case--the defendant, HRS, has sovereign immunity. Its liability is controlled by §768.28, Florida Statutes, not ch. 95.

As a waiver of sovereign immunity, §768.28 must be strictly construed. Nowhere does it mention tolling of the four-year limitation period. Consequently, the statute does not allow tolling under any circumstances, including falsification or fraudulent concealment of records by HRS.

To allow tolling would be tantamount to holding the State liable for fraud, despite language to the contrary in §768.28. The answer to the certified question, re-phrased to reflect HRS' sovereign immunity, is "NO."

Having answered the certified question negatively, this Court must address another issue to fully dispose of this case: whether \$768.28 allows for delayed accrual of S.A.P.'s cause of action. By identical logic, the answer also is "NO."

From its enactment in 1973 through the present, §768.28 did and does not provide for delayed accrual. It does not, in direct contrast to §95.031(1), Florida Statutes, provide a "cause of action accrues when the last element ... occurs." Therefore, S.A.P.'s cause accrued in October 1979, not in 1992 when the alleged fraudulent concealment was revealed through an investigation by HRS itself.

S.A.P. sustained the injuries at issue in October 1979. (R 164, ¶8). Her cause of action accrued then. Notice of intent to sue was given in May 1993 (R 171-6); suit was filed in January 1995. Since the statute of limitation was not tolled, S.A.P.'s claims were barred by her failure to give notice of intent to sue within 3 years of accrual of her claim; that is, by October 1982. Alternatively, her claims were barred by her failure to file suit within four years; that is, by October 1983. The First DCA's decision must be reversed, with directions to affirm the trial court's order of dismissal.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

CAN THE DOCTRINE OF FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT APPLY TO TOLL THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IN A NEGLIGENCE ACTION?

A. The Certified Question Should Be Re-Phrased

The certified question is set forth above. However, it does not accurately reflect an important fact and is much broader than necessary.

A state agency, HRS has sovereign immunity subject to the waiver in §768.28, Florida Statutes. Regardless of whether fraudulent concealment would toll the limitation period for a negligence action between private parties, such tolling is not permitted under §768.28.

When HRS sought rehearing below, it alternatively moved for certification of two questions, the first of which was: "Does sovereign immunity preclude application of the doctrine of fraudulent concealment to the State?" (See Appendix C, p.12). The panel nevertheless certified an imprecise question. To the extent it implicates tolling in a negligence suit against a defendant without sovereign immunity, the question as certified calls for an advisory opinion.

HRS respectfully requests this Court re-phrase the certified question to read:

Can the doctrine of fraudulent concealment apply to toll the statute of limitations in a negligence action, when the defendant enjoys sovereign immunity? [proposed language underlined].

See <u>Resha v. Tucker</u>, 670 So.2d 56, 57 (Fla. 1996) (restating certified question which did "not delineate that the present action was brought against an individual rather than the state"); <u>Merkle</u> <u>v. Robinson</u>, 737 So.2d 540 (Fla. 1999) (rephrasing certified question to reflect fact a cause of action arising in another state and not time-barred there was time-barred under Florida law).

This case presents the mirror image of <u>Resha</u>: the certified question does not reflect the negligence action was brought against a state agency rather than a private defendant. Based on the logic of <u>Resha</u>, in particular, HRS suggests re-phrasing as stated.

B. <u>Section 768.28 Controls Over Ch. 95,</u> And Must Be Strictly Construed

1. Section 768.28 Controls over Ch. 95

Section 768.28 controls over limitation, accrual and tolling provisions of ch. 95, Florida Statutes, when the defendant enjoys sovereign immunity. As the First DCA has said:

> Our supreme court has held that this 4-year period of limitation was intended to apply to all actions permitted by the limited waiver of immunity, notwithstanding the fact that a different statute of limitations might apply had the action been brought against a private defendant.

Horn v. State, Dept. of Transportation., 665 So.2d 1122, 1125 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (in an action under federal maritime law, four year limitation period in 768.28 controlled over three year federal period). See Showell Industries, Inc. v. Holmes County, 409 So.2d 78, 79 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) (three-year statutory period in \$768.28(6), Fla. Stat. (1975), for contribution claims against the State controlled over the one-year statutory period in \$768.31(4)(c), Fla. Stat. (1978)). See also, Wright v. Polk County Public Health Unit, 601 So.2d 1318, 1391 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) (reversing dismissal on other grounds, but agreeing with county's argument that the "tolling of the limitations period governing malpractice actions has no effect on the limitations period enunciated in the Sovereign Immunity Act").

Horn followed this Court's decision in <u>Beard v. Hambrick</u>, 396 So.2d 708,(Fla. 1981). In <u>Beard</u>, this Court concluded the four year period in §768.28(12), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1974), controlled over the two year limitation period for wrongful death in §95.11, Florida Statutes. The Court's rationale bears repeating:

> We believe that the legislature intended that there be one limitation period for all actions brought under section 768.28. We base this belief on the prerequisite notice provisions of this section and the need to have a uniform period for actions against governmental entities.

Id. at 712.

Negligence actions, presumably, are far more common than wrongful death actions. The need for a uniform limitation period is correspondingly greater. Allowing delayed accrual of a cause of action, or the period of limitation to be tolled does not promote

uniformity in practice, even though the four year time limit remains nominally unchanged.

A provision in ch. 95 strongly reinforces the conclusion §768.28 controls as to actions against the state. Section 95.011, Florida Statutes--again, in both the 1979 and 1999 versions--sets forth the applicability of ch. 95:

> A civil action or proceeding, ... including one brought <u>by the state</u>, ... or any agency or officer of any of them ... shall be barred unless begun within the time prescribed in this chapter or, if a different time is prescribed elsewhere in these statutes, within the time prescribed elsewhere. [e.s.].

Notably, the Legislature did not include actions "against" the state, when it carefully included actions brought "by" the state; thereby excluding suits against the state from the operation of ch. 95. See <u>Thayer v. State</u>, 335 So.2d 815, 817 (Fla. 1976) ("[W]here a statute enumerates the things on which it is to operate, or forbids certain things, it is ordinarily to be construed as excluding from its operation all those not expressly mentioned.").

Also, there is recognition that time periods "elsewhere in these statutes," are controlling. The intent of this passage must be to treat actions <u>against</u> the state differently; that is, to subject actions against the state to the conditions of §768.28.

Section 768.28 is a much narrower statute than ch. 95. The former applies only when an entity with sovereign immunity is sued for certain acts; the latter, to all other suits unless provided

differently in another law. As the far narrower statute, §768.28 controls over ch. 95. See <u>McKendry v. State</u>, 641 So.2d 45, 46, (Fla. 1994):

[A] specific statute covering a particular subject area always controls over a statute covering the same and other subjects in more general terms. ... The more specific statute is considered to be an exception to the general terms of the more comprehensive statute. [internal cites omitted]

Any tolling of the limitation period, or delayed accrual of S.A.P.'s cause, must come from §768.28, not ch. 95. See <u>Sheils v.</u> Jack Eckerd Corp., 560 So.2d 361, 363 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990):

Therefore, the second applicable rule of statutory construction is that where a general law that applies to numerous classes of cases conflicts with the law that applies only to a particular class, the latter, or more specific law, generally controls even when, in regard to <u>statutes of</u> <u>limitations</u>, the general provision provides for a longer period than the more specific provision. [e.s.].

2. <u>Section 768.28 must be Strictly Construed</u>

Section 768.28(1) (1979) carefully waived sovereign immunity, but "only to the extent specified in this act." The 1999 version does the same. This language and caselaw require strict construction of §768.28. See <u>Carlile v. Game and Fresh Water Fish</u> <u>Commission</u>, 354 So.2d 362, 364 (Fla. 1977) ("[t]hat statute is clearly in derogation of the common law principle of sovereign immunity and must, therefore, be strictly construed"); <u>Levine v.</u> <u>Dade County School Ed.</u>, 442 So.2d 210, 212 (Fla. 1983) (pre-suit notice requirements, as part of the statutory waiver of sovereign immunity, must be strictly construed). See also, <u>Pirez v.</u> <u>Brescher</u>, 584 So.2d 993, 995 (Fla. 1991) (upholding dismissal of claim against sheriff, when written notice was given to county attorney who did not represent sheriff; since claimant thereby "failed to comply with a condition precedent to the waiver of sovereign immunity").

In effect, the opinion below wrote into the limitation period of §768.28(11) (1979) or §768.28(13) (1999) a tolling mechanism based on fraudulent concealment. This Court has recently rejected such logic:

> As the Fifth District pointed out, section 95.11(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1981), makes no reference to a discovery rule for latent defects. Using the principle of statutory construction expressio unius est exclusio alterius, we conclude that the absence of such express language in section 95.11(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1981), is clear evidence that the legislature did not intend discovery rule in provide a section to 95.11(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1981). To conclude otherwise would require us to write into section 95.11(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1981), a discovery rule when the legislature has not. ... Any change in this result is a matter for legislative consideration.

<u>Federal Ins. Co. v. Southwest Florida Retirement Center, Inc.</u>, 707 So.2d 1119, 1122 (Fla. 1998).³

³<u>Federal Ins. Co.</u> follows the rationale of <u>Fulton County</u> <u>Administrator v. Sullivan</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S578 (Fla. Sept. 25, 1997); which was withdrawn on other grounds. *See* 24 Fla.L. Weekly S557 (Fla. Nov. 24, 1999). Standing alone, however, <u>Federal Ins. Co.</u> is persuasive authority.

By analogy, this Court cannot write a provision into §768.28 which would provide for tolling of the four year limitation period for negligence actions due to fraudulent concealment. See <u>Cassoutt</u> <u>v. Cessna Aircraft Co.</u>,1999 WL 790701*2 (Fla.1st DCA 1999) ("Further, the statute, being one of limitation, mandates a strict or conservative construction rather than a liberal construction."). The analogy is particularly compelling, as <u>all</u> of §768.28 must be strictly construed, not just its limitation language.

By similar analogy, this Court cannot write "last element" language into §768.28. Under §95.031(1), a "cause of action accrues when the <u>last element</u> constituting the cause of action occurs." [e.s.]. To the contrary, §768.28(6) & (11) (1979), and \$768.28(6)(a) & (13) (1999), do not have any such language, but provide only that notice and a complaint must be given and filed within three or four years, respectively, after "such claim accrues." Had the Legislature so desired, it could have included "last element" language in the appropriate subsection of §768.28, either expressly or by cross-reference to §95.031. That the Legislature did not do so precludes S.A.P. from relying on \$95.031(1), to claim her cause of action did not accrue until HRS released the results of its internal investigation in December 1992.⁴

⁴The same reasoning precludes S.A.P. or HRS from relying on §95.051(1)(h) for its minority-tolling or 7 year repose language.

3. <u>S.A.P.'s Claims are Barred</u>

Strict construction has two crucial implications for this case. First, since §768.28 (1979) did not provide for delay in accrual of a cause of action under any circumstances, S.A.P.'s negligence claim accrued not later than October 1979, when she was discovered in an emaciated and injured condition by the Clay County sheriff's office.⁵ Second, since §768.28 did not provide for tolling of the four year limitation period under any circumstances, S.A.P.'s S.A.P.'s cause was barred as of October 1983.⁶

The second amended complaint conceded the open and notorious nature of Appellant's injuries, and the latest date at which those injuries could have occurred:

> On or about October 20, 1979, the Clay County Sheriff's Office responded to reports from neighbors that they heard the cries of young children They found S.A.P. ... bruised ... burned, beaten, choked, malnourished S.A.P., then age 4, weighed 22 pounds and was "very emaciated" according to medical records.

⁵Deciding whether §768.28 allows delayed accrual of a cause is necessary to fully dispose of this case, as S.A.P.'s complaint was timely filed if her cause did not accrue until 1992.

⁶Alternatively, as declared in §768.28(1), sovereign immunity is waived only to the "extent specified." Among the specifications for waiver are the 3-year presuit notice requirement and the 4-year limitation period. If these conditions are not met, there is no waiver as a matter of law. Assuming her cause accrued in October 1979, S.A.P.'s failure to give pre-suit notice within 3 years, or file a complaint within 4 years, of her injuries precluded a waiver of sovereign immunity. She had no cause of action; dismissal was proper.

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