IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA DEPT. OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES,

Petitioner,

vs.

S.A.P.,

CASE NO. SC00-105 (First DCA 96-2375)

Respondent.

Upon Petition for Review of a Question Certified to be of Great Public Importance by the District Court of Appeal, First District

/

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Respondent, S.A.P., accepts the statement of the case and of the facts as contained in the initial brief of the Petitioner, Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services. References to the record on appeal will be identified by "R" followed by the page number.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The question, as certified, should be answered in the affirmative.¹

The argument of HRS, that the state is immune from the application of the principle of fraudulent concealment, should be rejected. The policy considerations underlying the basic purposes of sovereign immunity are not offended by the application of the principles of fraudulent concealment and equitable estoppel. In fact, the very words of the sovereign immunity statute speak to making the sovereign liable for tort claims in the same manner and same extent as a private individual under to the like circumstances. The statute contemplates the application of these common law principles by declaring that the state will be liable in accordance with the general laws of this state.

The decisions of this court and the district courts of appeal have maintained a firm and consistent vigil against the dramatic expansion of immunity which is called for by the briefs of HRS and the Solicitor General.

Similarly, acts of state employees can be attributed to the state for purposes of tolling the statute of limitation and the

¹The initial brief of HRS did not challenge or address the conclusion of the First District Court of Appeal in this cause that S.A.P. had sufficiently stated both a cause of action for negligence and the equitable principle of fraudulent concealment. Accordingly, this issue is not addressed in the Answer Brief of S.A.P.

principle of equitable estoppel. Immunity from liability in tort does not extend to acts of fraudulent concealment that may toll the statute of limitations or estop the offending sovereign from asserting the defense.

The principle of equitable estoppel is a distinct historical common law principle which has been honored and upheld by the courts of this state and those of a host of federal and state jurisdictions. Equitable estoppel comes into play after the limitations period has run and estops the offending party from asserting the defense. This common law principle survives both the enactment of §95.051(2), Florida Statutes (1975), and this court's withdrawn opinion in <u>Fulton County Adm'r. v. Sullivan</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S578 (Fla. Sept. 25, 1997).

Even if the certified question is answered in the negative, this court should permit S.A.P.'s action to proceed. As the First District expressed in its original opinion in this cause, even if the allegations of her complaint were not sufficient to invoke the doctrine of fraudulent concealment, her action should be permitted to proceed because, during her minority, there was no one acting on her behalf and no one who could have filed suit for the child. A close analysis of the distinction between the "accrual" of an action and the "tolling" of the statute of limitations reveals that S.A.P.'s action did not accrue until December of 1992. Accordingly, her action should proceed.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

QUESTION CERTIFIED:

CAN THE DOCTRINE OF FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT APPLY TO TOLL THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IN A NEGLIGENCE ACTION?

- A. The Doctrine of Fraudulent Concealment Tolls the Statute of Limitations in a Negligence Action, When the Defendant Enjoys Sovereign Immunity.
- B. The Acts of State Employees Can Be Attributed to the State for the Purposes of Tolling the Statute of Limitations and the Principle of Equitable Estoppel.
- C. Equitable Estoppel Is a Distinct Common Law Principle Which Survives the Enactment of the Statute of Limitations.
- D. Even if this Certified Question Is Answered in the Negative, this Action Should Be Permitted to Proceed.

ARGUMENT

QUESTION CERTIFIED:

CAN THE DOCTRINE OF FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT APPLY TO TOLL THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IN A NEGLIGENCE ACTION?

A. The Doctrine of Fraudulent Concealment Tolls the Statute of Limitations in a Negligence Action, When the Defendant Enjoys Sovereign Immunity.

S.A.P. does not agree that the certified question should be re-phrased. Nonetheless, S.A.P. will address her first argument to the issue of fraudulent concealment as it applies to a sovereign defendant. The tolling of the statute of limitations by concealment or fraud is applicable to the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services.

Any consideration of fraudulent concealment and a sovereign defendant should begin with a consideration of the basic purposes of sovereign immunity. The doctrine of sovereign immunity rests on two public policy considerations:

The protection of the public against profligate encroachments on the public treasury and the need for the orderly administration of government, which, in the absence of immunity, would be disrupted if the state could be sued at the instance of every citizen. <u>Spangler v. Florida State Turnpike Auth.</u>, 106 So.2d 421 (Fla. 1958); <u>Berek v. Metropolitan Dade County</u>, 396 So.2d 756 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981), <u>aff'd.</u> 422 So.2d 838 (Fla. 1982).

In <u>Vargas v. Glades Gen. Hosp.</u>, 566 So.2d 282 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), the Fourth District considered the exact question as suggested by HRS. The court's well grounded analysis concluded that tolling the limitations period for fraudulent concealment would not damage the public pocket because to do so in no way affected the legislature's determination that the state only be liable up to the limits set forth in the statute. The court reasoned that to disallow the doctrine of equitable tolling of the statute of limitations for fraudulent concealment in cases against state agencies would defeat the legislative purpose of allowing citizens who have been injured by tortuous state conduct to recover damages. <u>Id.</u> at 285.

The philosophy behind this exception to the statute of limitations is that our courts will not protect defendants who are directly responsible for delays of filing because of their own willful acts. <u>Nardone v. Reynolds</u>, 333 So.2d 25, 36 (Fla. 1976). Fraudulent concealment can toll the running of the statute of limitations, such as in the case at bar, when the fraud perpetrated upon the injured places him in ignorance of his right to sue. <u>Wirt</u> <u>v. Central Life Assurance Co</u>, 613 So.2d 478, 479 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992).

The <u>Vargas</u> court cited an additional provision of §768.28, Florida Statutes, that has significance for the argument now before this Court. "The state and its agencies and subdivisions shall be

liable for tort claims <u>in the same manner</u> and <u>to the same extent as</u> <u>a private individual under like circumstances</u>," §768.28(5), Fla. Stat.(1979) (emphasis supplied). Further, the statute waives immunity for negligent or wrongful acts of the state, "If a private person, would be liable to the claimant, <u>in accordance with the</u> <u>general laws of this state</u>" §768.28(1), Fla. Stat. (1979) (emphasis supplied). The Florida legislature was clear in declaring that the state was to be regarded like a private citizen and that the general laws of the state should be applied under this concept. General common laws such as the tolling of the statute of limitations based on fraudulent concealment equally applies to the sovereign defendant.

Accordingly, the Fourth District in <u>Vargas</u> held that the statute of limitations contained in §768.28(11), Florida Statutes, the predecessor to §768.28(13), may be tolled by fraudulent concealment of the facts necessary to put the injured party on notice of the negligent act or the resulting injury. The <u>Vargas</u> analysis was based upon a fair and appropriate consideration of the policies surrounding sovereign immunity and of the overwhelming public policy consequences if the courts affirmed the fraudulent acts of the litigants.

In its brief, HRS has referred to the well considered logic of the Fourth District as the purest dicta. This court should embrace

the sound and sensible holding in <u>Vargas</u> and affirm it as the law of the state of Florida.

HRS argues that any tolling of the limitation period or delayed accrual of S.A.P.'s cause must come from §768.28, Florida Statutes alone. The import and continuing life of the principle of equitable estoppel, as separate and distinct from the sovereign immunity statute, is addressed below.

HRS asks this Court to examine the immunity of the sovereign as if it exists in a vacuum, immune not only from liability in tort, but also from participation in our common law and our comprehensive legislative scheme. To do so would cast an artificial and unforgiving light upon the very purpose of our sovereign immunity statute. The legislature waived immunity because of its belief that our citizens, under limited circumstances and recoveries, should be able to seek legal redress for their injuries. <u>Berek</u>, 396 So.2d at 758.

Similary, S.A.P. seeks to determine the responsibility of the state for the horrors she endured as a four-year-old innocent.

B. The Acts of State Employees Can Be Attributed to the State for the Purposes of Tolling the Statute of Limitations and the Principle of Equitable Estoppel.

The Solicitor General, as Amicus Curiae, argues that since the fraudulent acts of the Department employees are not attributable to the Department <u>for purposes of liability</u>, it follows, as the day

the night, that such acts cannot constitute the fraudulent concealment that tolls the statute or provides a basis for equitable estoppel. The phrase, "liable in tort," does not contemplate immunity for the state for actions which do not result in responsibility for damages.

The operative section of Florida Statutes, §768.28(9)(a) (1979), states as follows:

The state or its subdivisions shall not be <u>liable in tort</u> for the acts or omissions of an officer, employee, or agent committed while acting outside the course and scope of his or her employment or committed in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. (Emphasis supplied)

This court has previously rejected the sovereign's attempt to extend immunity principles beyond liability in tort. In <u>Berek v.</u> <u>Metropolitan Dade County</u>, 422 So.2d 838 (Fla. 1982), this court found itself as the subject of a similar request on behalf of a sovereign defendant. This court, relying upon the words of §768.28 declaring that the state shall be liable for claims in the same manner and to the same extent as a private individual, refused to exempt the sovereign defendant from the applications of §57.041, Florida Statutes, providing for the recovery of costs. This court concluded that the general provisions of our law which make costs and interest recoverable by the prevailing party are applicable when a tort claimant prevails against the state. <u>Id</u>. at 840.

The same reasoning has been invoked by this and other Florida courts in denying the state special protection from guardian ad litem fees and legal costs. <u>Simpson v. Merrill</u>, 234 So.2d 350, 351 (Fla. 1970); <u>In the Interest of R.W.</u>, 409 So.2d 1069, 1070 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981), <u>rev. denied</u>, 418 So.2d 1279 (Fla. 1982).

In <u>Carida v. Holy Cross Hosp., Inc.</u>, 427 So.2d 803, 806 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), the Fourth District construed the word "liability" to mean <u>responsibility for damages</u> proximately resulting from a tort. There is no suggestion in §768.28, Florida Statutes, that the legislature intended to provide the kind of protection now requested by the Solicitor General and HRS. In fact, our Florida appellate courts have ruled to the contrary.

The limits of sovereign immunity were effectively characterized in <u>Proser v. Berger</u>, 132 So.2d 439, 442 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1961), where the court concluded that the fact that an agency of the sovereign would not be liable in damages for its tortious acts does <u>not</u> thereby destroy the characterization of its acts as tortious, but renders immune the state agency from responding in damages for such actions.

The principles of estoppel have been applied to political subdivisions of the state of Florida and other sovereign defendants. In <u>Martin v. Monroe County</u>, 518 So.2d 935 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987), <u>rev. denied</u>, 528 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 1988), the court held that the Department of Insurance, Division of Risk Management, was

estopped from denying receipt of a claim which was filed after the expiration of the statute of limitations.

Again, the argument of HRS and the Solicitor General runs headlong into a brick wall with a banner bearing the words of the waiver statute itself, making the state liable in the same manner to the same extent as a private individual under like circumstances, and in accordance with the general laws of this state.

Two additional arguments made by the Solicitor General require comment. First, the Solicitor argues that it is by some slight of hand that S.A.P. brings her action for the Department's negligence, and yet relies upon individual employee acts of fraudulent concealment. Under established tort principles, it is HRS' duty to monitor a child's placement in foster care, its duty to supervise its caseworkers, and its negligence in failing to remove the child from an abusive home that serves as the basis of this action. <u>Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Servs. v. Whaley</u>, 574 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1991); <u>Yamuni v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Servs.</u>, 529 So.2d 258 (Fla. 1988). This is not sorcery. Rather, it is a simple application of established principles of tort liability.

Finally, it is important to note that S.A.P.'s cause of action was rejected via a Motion to Dismiss. Only under extraordinary circumstances where the facts of the Complaint, taken as true, conclusively show that the action barred by the statute of

limitations, should a Motion to Dismiss on this ground be granted. <u>Ambrose v. Catholic Social Servs., Inc.</u>,737 So.2d 146 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999).

Because of the extraordinary action of the trial court, we do not have any idea whether the conduct of Department employees in falsifying documents, obstructing the police investigation, and concealing the cause of action were committed within the scope of employment. Conduct may be within the scope of employment, even if it is unauthorized, if it is of the same general nature as that authorized or is incidental to the conduct authorized. <u>Lewis v.</u> <u>Walston & Co.</u>, 487 F.2d 617 (5th Cir. 1973). Just as the court concluded in <u>Hennagan v. Dept. of Highway Safety & Motor Vehicles</u>, 467 So.2d 748, (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), S.A.P.'s Complaint alleges a number of actions which could be found to exceed authority, but <u>not</u> be outside the scope of employment. For example, the use of excessive force by an officer in effecting an arrest may render the employer liable for the intentional torts inflicted thereby. <u>City</u> of Miami v. Albro, 120 So.2d 23 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1960).

C. Equitable Estoppel Is a Distinct Common Law Principle Which Survives the Enactment of the Statute of Limitations.

Morsani v. Major League Baseball, 739 So.2d 610 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1999), a decision rendered after this court's initial opinion in Fulton Co. Adm'r. v. Sullivan, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S578 (Fla. Sept.

25, 1997), provided a scholarly and judicious analysis of the doctrine of equitable estoppel. <u>Morsani</u> is now before this court.

The Second District effectively stepped up to the plate, reviewing the historical common law basis for the doctrine of equitable estoppel in Florida and in a host of additional state and federal jurisdictions. The Second District concluded that tolling the statute of limitations is concerned with the point at which the limitation period begins to run and with the circumstances in which the running of the limitations may be suspended. <u>Morsani</u>, 739 So.2d at 614.

Equitable estoppel, however, is a distinct principle that comes into play only <u>after</u> the limitations period has run and addresses itself to circumstances in which a party will be <u>estopped</u> <u>from asserting</u> the statute of limitations as a defense. The application of equitable estoppel is wholly independent of the limitation period itself and takes its life, not from the language of the statute, but from the equitable principle that no man will be permitted to profit from his own wrongdoing in a court of justice. <u>Id.</u>

Neither §95.051(2), Florida Statutes(1975), nor this court's withdrawn opinion in <u>Fulton Co. Adm'r. v. Sullivan</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S578 (Fla. Sept. 25, 1997), effectively remove equitable estoppel as a living principle of our common law.

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